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Brian Smith et al. v. VCA, Inc. et al.; Case No. 21-cv-09140  
Tentative Ruling on Motion to Dismiss  
 
 
I. Background1 

Before the Court is Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ class action claims.  

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs failed to adequately plead their claims.  See Motion to Dismiss 

(“Mot.”), ECF No. 40.   

Plaintiffs Brian Smith, Jacqueline Mooney, Angela Bakanas, and Matthew Colon 

(collectively “Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all participants in the VCA, Inc. Salary 

Savings Plan (the “Plan”) against Defendants VCA, Inc., the Plan Committee for the VCA, Inc. 

Salary Savings Plan, and John and Jane Does 1-50 (collectively “Defendants”).  Plaintiffs allege 

Defendants breached their fiduciary duties in violation of the Employee Retirement Income 

Security Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001-1461 (“ERISA”), by allowing unreasonable and excessive 

recordkeeping and administrative fees to be charged to Plaintiffs.  See Complaint (“Compl.”), ECF 

No. 1 ¶ 1.  Plaintiffs state that Defendants were responsible for monitoring plan costs, such as 

recordkeeping and administration costs, to ensure that such costs are fair, reasonable, and 

appropriate.  Between November 2015 and July 2020, according to Plaintiffs, Defendants breached 

their fiduciary duties by allowing Plaintiffs to pay excessive fees compared to similarly sized 

retirement plans.   

II. Legal Standard 

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a defendant may move to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  A complaint may be dismissed for failure 

to state a claim for one of two reasons: (1) lack of a cognizable legal theory; or (2) insufficient 

facts under a cognizable legal theory.  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007); see 

also Mendiondo v. Centinela Hosp. Med. Ctr., 521 F.3d 1097, 1104 (9th Cir. 2008). 

The court must construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, by 

accepting all allegations of material fact as true, and drawing all reasonable inferences from well-

pled factual allegations in favor of the plaintiff.  Gompper v. VISX, Inc., 298 F.3d 893, 896 (9th 

Cir. 2002).  The court is not required to accept as true legal conclusions couched as factual 

 
1 The following abbreviations are used for the filings: (1) Complaint (“Compl.”), ECF No. 1; (2) Defendant’s 

Motion to Dismiss (“Mot.”), ECF No. 40; (3) Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss (“Opp.”), ECF 
No. 47; (4) Defendant’s Reply in Support of its Motion to Dismiss (“Reply”), ECF No. 53. 
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allegations.   Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).  While a complaint does not need detailed 

factual allegations to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the plaintiff must provide grounds 

demonstrating its entitlement to relief.  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555 (2007).  Under the Supreme 

Court’s decisions in Twombly and Iqbal, this requires that the complaint contain “sufficient factual 

matter . . . to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’”  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570). 

III. Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants request that the Court take judicial notice of seven exhibits consisting of 

excerpts from the Plan’s Form 5500 Annual Reports for years 2015-2020 and the amended 

complaint filed in White v. Chevron Corp., No. 16-cv-0793-PJH (N.D. Cal. Sept. 30, 2016).  

Plaintiffs also request that the Court take judicial notice of the Plan’s Form 5500 for 2015-2020, 

excerpts of the U.S. Roche 401(k) Savings Plan Form 5500 for 2015-2020, and the amended 

complaint filed in Wehner v. Genentech, Inc., No. 20-cv-06894-WHO (N.D. Cal. Mar. 1, 2021).   

“Generally, a court may not consider material beyond the complaint in ruling on a [Rule 

12] motion.”  Intri-Plex Techs., Inc. v. Crest Grp., Inc., 499 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2007).  

However, courts may “consider certain materials—documents attached to the complaint, 

documents incorporated by reference in the complaint, or matters of judicial notice—without 

converting the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment.”  United States v. Ritchie, 

342 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir. 2003).  Under the “incorporation by reference” doctrine, courts may 

take judicial notice of a document where “the plaintiff's claim depends on the contents of a 

document, the defendant attaches the document to its motion to dismiss, and the parties do not 

dispute the authenticity of the document, even though the plaintiff does not explicitly allege the 

contents of that document in the complaint.”  Knievel v. ESPN, 393 F.3d 1068, 1076 (9th Cir. 

2005) (citing Parrino v. FHP, Inc., 146 F.3d 699, 706 (9th Cir. 1998)).  Under Federal Rule of 

Evidence 201, a fact is appropriate for judicial notice if it is not subject to reasonable dispute in 

that it is (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of 

accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be 

questioned.  Fed. R. Evid. 201(b).  A court “must take judicial notice if a party requests it and the 

court is supplied with the necessary information.”  Fed. R. Evid. 201(c)(2). 

Plaintiffs do not oppose Defendants’ request (ECF No. 41, Exs. 1-7), and Defendants do 

not oppose Plaintiffs’ request (ECF No. 48, Exs. 1-8), and the Court finds these materials to be 
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proper subjects of judicial notice.  See, e.g., White v. Chevron Corp., No. 16-CV-0793-PJH, 2016 

WL 4502808, at *3–4 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 29, 2016) (judicial notice of an investment policy 

statement); Rodrigues v. Bank of Am., NA, No. 16-CV-1390, 2016 WL 3566950, at *1 n.1 (N.D. 

Cal. Jul. 1, 2016) (judicial notice of plan document and summary plan description under the 

“incorporation by reference” doctrine).  Defendants’ and Plaintiffs’ requests for judicial notice are 

therefore granted.   

IV. Discussion 

A. Breaches of Fiduciary Duties 

i. Breach of Duty of Prudence 

ERISA Section 404(a)(1) imposes various duties on plan fiduciaries.  One such duty is the 

duty of prudence.  29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1).  Plan fiduciaries must act “with the care, skill, prudence, 

and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent [person] acting in a like 

capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of alike character 

and with like aims.”  29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B).  Additionally, the fiduciary must “discharge his 

duties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries . . . for the 

exclusive purpose of . . . providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries; and . . . defraying 

reasonable expenses of administering the plan.”  29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1), (a)(1)(A).   In this regard, 

“[f]iduciaries must . . . understand and monitor plan expenses.”  Sweda v. Univ. of Penn., 923 F.3d 

320, 328 (3d Cir. 2019).   “Expenses, such as management or administrative fees, can sometimes 

significantly reduce the value of an account in a defined-contribution plan.”  Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 

575 U.S. 523, 525 (2015).  

Plaintiffs have alleged that the Plan herein a “large plan” in regards to its assets and, hence, 

“had tremendous bargaining power to demand low-cost administrative and investment 

management services.”  See Comp. ¶¶ 9-11.  Plaintiffs assert that, rather than “leveraging the 

Plan’s substantial bargaining power” in regards to obtaining “retirement plan services,” the 

Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by “failing to monitor the retirement plan service fees 

paid by the Plan to ensure that they were reasonable” and “failing to take standard and customary 

actions to understand the market for retirement plan services to monitor for reasonableness the 

retirement plan service fees paid by the Plan . . . .”  Id. ¶¶ 13-14.  In the Complaint, Plaintiffs 

reference Defendants’ alleged failures as to “recordkeeping” and “administration 

costs”/”administrative fees.”  See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 4, 12.  While the former can generally be understood, 
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the latter is somewhat amorphous. 

Because ERISA plaintiffs may generally lack inside information necessary to detail their 

allegations, Plaintiffs may rely on circumstantial factual allegations to show a breach of fiduciary 

duties.  Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. ex rel. St. Vincent v. Morgan Stanley Inv. Mgmt., 712 F.3d 

705, 718 (2nd Cir. 2012).  Thus, Courts have described the pleading standard for ERISA Plaintiffs 

as requiring that plaintiffs show “through reasonable inferences from well-pleaded facts” that the 

fiduciary’s choices failed to meet ERISA requirements. Id. at 720; cf. Concha v. London, 62 F.3d 

1493, 1503 (9th Cir. 1995) (“Where a fiduciary exercises discretionary control over a plan, and 

assumes the responsibilities that this control entails, the victim of his misconduct often will not, at 

the time he files his complaint, be in a position to describe with particularity the events constituting 

the alleged misconduct.”). 

In their motion to dismiss, Defendants make two primary arguments: (1) “Plaintiffs’ 

allegations that the Plan’s recordkeeping fees were excessive do not plausibly alleged imprudence” 

(see Mot., ECF No. 40-1 at 2), and (2) “Plaintiff’s [sic] failure to monitor claim is also implausible” 

(id.).   

a. Plaintiffs’ Calculation of Per Participant Fee  

As to Defendants’ initial contention, they assert that: (1) the Plan’s per participant fee is 

not actually unreasonable because Plaintiffs made a fundamental error in their calculation, and (2) 

Plaintiffs’ broad contentions regarding recordkeeping costs fail to state a claim because their 

allegations are identical to those rejected in White v. Chevron Corp., No. 16-cv-0793-PJH, 2016 

WL 2352137 (N.D. Cal. May 31, 2017), aff’d, 752 F.App’x 453 (9th.Cir. 2018). 

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ assertion that the Plan paid a recordkeeping fee of $91 

per participant represents a “fundamental error in Plaintiffs’ calculations.”2  See Mot. at 7.  

Defendants claim that Plaintiffs used the wrong data from the IRS Form 5500s to determine the 

number of participants for purposes of calculating the per participant fee.  Id.  Thus, when the 

correct number of participants are used in the calculation, the per participant fee is actually 

reasonable at $36 per participant.  Id. at 7-8.   

 
2 Defendants contend that what Plaintiffs refer to as “recordkeeping services” include many different “plan-

related services” including: “transaction processing,” “administrative services related to converting a plan from one 
recordkeeper to another,” “participant communications” expenses such as call centers, phone support and “summary 
plan descriptions and other participant materials,” “accounting and reporting services,” “loan processing,” and 
“distribution services.”  See Mot. at 4-5.   
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Specifically, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs used line 6(g) from the Form 5500s as the 

denominator for the “per participant fee” calculation.  But line 6(g) represents the “number of 

participants with account balances as of the end of the plan year.”  See the Plan’s 2015-2020 Forms 

5500, Part II, Line 6(g).  Defendants contend that line 6(f), by contrast, is the correct value to be 

used as the denominator in Plaintiffs’ calculations, as it reflects the total number of all participants 

in the Plan.  See Mot. at 3.  To support this, Defendants argue that (1) Plaintiffs have brought this 

action on behalf of “all Plan participants” and not just participants with an account balance at the 

end of the year, see Compl. at ¶ 160, (2) the services Plaintiffs define in the Complaint as 

“recordkeeping” services are made available to all plan participants and not just those with account 

balances, (3) ERISA’s statutory definition of participant is not limited to just those with account 

balances, see Mot. at 3 and Opp. at 1, (4) and another court has calculated the per participant fee 

by employing the total number of plan participants and not just those with account balances at the 

end of the year, see Reply at 2-3.   

Despite Defendants’ characterization that there is only one way to calculate the per 

participant fee for purposes of a breach of ERISA’s duty of prudence, the Court notes that there 

appears to be no set method for the recordkeeping fee calculation.  In fact, both Plaintiffs and 

Defendants argue that their chosen denominator for calculating the per participant fee is proper 

under analogous ERISA cases. See Reply at 2-3; Opp. at 12-13. See also Dover v. Yanfeng US 

Auto. Interior Sys. I LLC, No 20-cv-11643-TBG-DRG, 2021 WL 4440324, at *8 (E.D. Mich. Sept. 

28, 2021) (dismissing breach of fiduciary duty claim on grounds that plaintiff used incorrect value 

of total fees paid to recordkeeper in calculation but not admonishing plaintiff’s use of Line 5 as 

denominator for calculation); Wehner v. Genentech, Inc., No 20-cv-06894-WHO, 2021 WL 

507599 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 9, 2021) (refusing to dismiss breach of fiduciary duty claim where plaintiff 

employed Line 6(g) to calculate per participant fee); Marshall v. Northrop Grumman Corp., No. 

16-cv-06794-CB, 2017 WL 2930839, at *11  (C.D. Cal. Jan. 23, 2017) (refusing to dismiss breach 

of duty of prudence claim where plaintiff used Line 6(g) to calculate per participant fee) (citing to 

ECF No. 1 ¶¶ 72, 74 and referencing ECF No. 50-3 at 2, 14).  Given that there is not a set formula 

for calculating the per participant recordkeeping fee, the Court accepts the Plaintiffs’ alleged 

calculation as plausible at the pleading stage.  Ybarra v. Board of Trustees of Supplemental Income 

Trust Fund, 2018 WL 11346537, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2018) (finding that the court could infer 

from plaintiffs’ alleged facts a sufficient claim for breach of fiduciary duty of prudence).    
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Based on the Court’s review of the complaint and exhibits subject to judicial notice, and in 

accordance with the rule that the Court is to accept all of Plaintiffs allegations as true, Plaintiffs 

have made a sufficient showing that the participants paid an average fee of $91 and such a fee is 

excessive and unreasonable in light of comparative plans provided in the Complaint.    

b. Reasonableness of VCA’s Recordkeeping Fees  

Defendants also argue for dismissal on the basis that materially similar allegations to those 

of Plaintiffs were dismissed in White, 2016 WL 2352137.  Specifically, Defendants state that 

Plaintiffs only generally allege that the Plan’s fees were unreasonable.  See Mot. at 10-11.  In 

opposition, Plaintiffs argue that their allegations are distinguishable from those at issue in White.   

See Opp. at 14-16.  

Here, Plaintiffs argue that the Plan’s recordkeeping services fees “were excessive when 

compared with other similar-size plans receiving materially identical services.”  Compl. ¶ 116.   

Plaintiffs allege that from 2015 to 2020, Plan participants paid for the recordkeeping services 

“directly through fees deducted from their accounts and indirectly through revenue sharing.”  Id. 

¶ 117.  On average, these fees amounted to “$91+ per year deducted directly from their accounts.”  

Id.  In defense of their position that such a fee is unreasonable, Plaintiffs provide a table of “per 

participant retirement plan service fees” for other comparable plans with similar numbers of 

participants. Id. ¶ 129.  The table at Plaintiffs’ Complaint ¶ 129 indicates that Plaintiffs’ alleged 

comparable plans have recordkeeping services fees between $28 to $49.  Id.  Further, Plaintiffs 

also alleged that the services provided by the Plan were materially similar to the services provided 

by these comparative plans.  See id. ¶ 96; see also Bouvy v. Analog Devices, Inc., No. 19-cv-881, 

2020 WL 3448385, at *10-11 (S.D. Cal. June 24, 2020).  Thus, as Plaintiffs state, during the 

relevant time period comparable plans “paid significantly lower per-participant retirement plan 

service fees,” and Plaintiffs paid a per participant average fee that is more than two times the 

amount charged in similar plans.  Id. ¶¶ 131, 139.  In fact, Plaintiffs provide examples of other 

plans offering an “identical package of services” but at cheaper fee costs.  Id. ¶ 139.  Plaintiffs also 

allege that Defendants did not “regularly and/or reasonably” assess the service fees, and such 

failure constitutes a breach of their fiduciary duties.  Id. ¶¶ 140-42.  Not only did Defendants fail 

to recognize that the participants were “grossly overcharged for retirement plan services,” (Id. at 

¶ 147), but Plaintiffs also state that Defendants failed to solicit competitive bids “for many years 

and during the Class Period.”  Id. ¶ 144.  Because Defendants allegedly failed to “follow a prudent 
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process to monitor the compensation paid” to the recordkeepers, Plaintiffs lost “millions of dollars 

in their retirement savings over the last six years.”  Id. ¶ 149.  

The Court again notes that the relevant inquiry at the pleading stage is sufficiency of 

Plaintiffs’ allegations.  It may very well turn out that the per participant recordkeeping fee (and 

other costs) is actually reasonable and prudent under the circumstances, despite the alleged 

calculations and comparisons in the Complaint.  Nonetheless, Plaintiffs alleged that participants 

paid recordkeeping fees in excess of competitive plans over a period of five years, and information 

was available to the Plan’s fiduciaries about plans with less expensive fees. Thus, Plaintiffs’ 

allegations are sufficient to state a claim for breach of the fiduciary duty of prudence.  See 

Marshall, 2017 WL 2930839, at *10–11; Ybarra, 2018 WL 11346537, at *6; Johnson v. Fujitsu 

Tech. & Bus. of Am., Inc., 250 F. Supp. 3d 460, 466–67 (N.D. Cal. 2017).  But see White, 2016 

WL 4502808, at *12-14. 

ii. Breach of Duty to Monitor  

The Court only briefly addresses the breach of the duty to monitor claim, as it stems from 

the breach of the duty of prudence, which survives dismissal.  In Tibble, the Supreme Court held 

that “the duty of prudence involves a continuing duty to monitor investments.”  Tibble, 575 U.S. 

at 530.  In discussing the duty of prudence, the Ninth Circuit has stated that “cost-conscious 

management is fundamental to prudence in the investment function and should be applied not only 

in making investment but also in monitoring and reviewing investments.” Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 

729 F.3d 1110, 1133 (9th Cir. 2013), overruled on other grounds, 575 U.S. 523 (2015).   

Defendants argue that because the breach of duty of prudence claim fails, so too should the 

failure to monitor claim should be dismissed.  ECF No. 40 at 12-13.  But Plaintiffs sufficiently 

alleged a breach of the duty of prudence, for the reasons stated above.  Further, the Court also finds 

that Plaintiffs have plausibly alleged a breach of the duty to monitor.  See Compl. ¶¶ 182-88.   The 

Court, therefore, denies Defendants’ motion to dismiss the breach of the duty to monitor claim.  

V. Conclusion 

Based on the foregoing discussion, the Court DENIES the motion. 
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